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DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY FORM no 

'roperty Name: Ehrhardt-Rude Property Inventory Number: BA-3006 

Address: 8012 Windsor Mill Rd. City: Baltimore Zip Code: 21244-1300 

County: Baltimore USGS Topographic Map: Ellicott City 

Owner: Helen M. Ehrhardt Is the property being evaluated a district? yes 

Tax Parcel Number: 46 Tax Map Number: ̂ 7 Tax Account ID Number: 0205320000 

Project: Agency: 

Site visit by MHT Staff: X no _yes Name: Date: 

Is the property located within a historic district? yes X no 

If the property is within a district District Inventory Number: 

NR-listed district yes Eligible district yes District Name: 

Preparer's Recommendation: Contributing resource yes no Non-contributing but eligible in another context 

If the property is not within a district (or the property is a district) 

Preparer's Recommendation: Eligible yes X no 

Criteria: _ A B C D Considerations: A B C D E F G None 

Documentation on the property/district is presented in: 

Description o f Property and Eligibility Determination: (Use continuation sheet if necessary and attach map and photo) 

The property is a vernacular wood frame dwelling on a large sloping grassy lot with mature trees and shrubs throughout. The 
house faces southwest toward Windsor Mill Rd. The salt-box section on the rear of the house appears to be the initial period of 
construction. This one-and-a-half story section is topped by a salt-box roof and features and exterior-end brick chimney clad 
with stucco. A shed-roof enclosed porch is located on the northwest elevation of this addition. The second period of 
construction is the single-pile section, which stands two stories high and measures three bays across. This section dates to the 
mid-to late 19th century. Both sections rest on a solid random rubble stone foundation and are clad with asbestos shingles. The 
two-story section has one interior-end brick chimney above the side gabled asphalt shingle roof. Features of the dwelling 
include thin square-edged wood surrounds and sill, a boxed wood cornice and overhanging eaves. A third addition, circa late 
19th century, is located on the northwest elevation. This section, constructed of random-rubble stone, is one story in height and 
two bays wide. Two historic and three non-historic secondary buildings are associated with this property. (MHT Inventory 
#BA-3006) 

As the above description states, this is an unexceptional vernacular property located in western Baltimore County. Both the 
original c.1835 salt-box and the later two story addition have been significantly altered in the 20th century. The salt-box became 
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the kitchen for the entire house and the two-story addition was used as living space. The third addition is now used as a 
mechanical room and contains the furnace for the building. 

While the two-story addition still features its original windows, replacement units have been installed in the kitchen. As the 
kitchen is the oldest portion of the house, it has undergone the most change. A bulkheaded beam runs the length of the room 
and may represent an early-enclosed porch. A small vestibule has been added to the entrance. A large sink and coal stove 
were added in the early 20th century. The kitchen was again modernized in the 1960s. Some original features remain including 
the small spiral staircase leading up to the small space above the kitchen and the fireplace behind the cook stove. 

While these remaining details are significant, the overall property is not an excellent example of vernacular architecture. The 
asbestos shingles on the exterior, replacement windows in the kitchen, and use of the stone addition as a furnace room have all 
significantly impacted the houses historic fabric. Part of the significance of this property is the fact that this has been in the 
Ehrhardt family since 1894. While a chain of title this direct is significant, it seems that there is nobody in the family willing 
or able to maintain this property at this time. In addition, other more representative vernacular farm structures can be found 
throughout Baltimore County. The building immediately across the street is a better-preserved example of a mid to late 19th 

century farmhouse. 

Although this property is representative of a nineteenth century farm, the numerous non-historic modifications that are present 
do not warrant its listing on the National Register. 

Prepared by: Adam Blumenthal Date Prepared: 10/13/03 
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Projection is UTM Zone 18 NAD83 Datum 
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CAPSULE SUMMARY 
BA-3006 
Ehrhardt-Rude House 
8012 Windsor Mill Road 
Circa 1830 
Private 

Three families have resided at this location on Windsor Mill Road since its construction circa 

1830. This vernacular frame dwelling was built by Abraham Jessop circa 1830. The Hook 

family purchased the property in 1838 and members resided here for approximately fifty-four 

years. The Ehrhardt family has owned this property for just under one hundred years, since 1874. 

Windsor Mill Road extends from the village of Powhattan to Court Road, just south of 

Randalstown. The Ehrhardt-Rude dwelling is one of the oldest remaining vernacular dwellings 

along this section of Windsor Mill Road. 

Sited close to the road, this vernacular wood frame dwelling, circa 1830, sits on a large sloping 

grassy lot with mature trees and shrubs throughout. The house faces southwest towards Windsor 

Mill Road. The salt box section on the rear of the house, appears to be the initial period of 

construction. This one-and-a-half-story section is topped a salt-box roof and features an exterior-

end brick chimney clad with stucco. A shed-roof enclosed porch is located on the northwest 

elevation of this addition. The second period of construction is the single-pile section, which 

stands two stories high and measures three bays across. This section dates to the mid- to late-19th 

century. Both sections rest on a solid random-rubble stone foundation and is clad with asbestos 

shingles. The two-story section has one interior-end brick chimney above the side-gable asphalt-

shingle roof. Features of the dwelling include thin square-edged wood surrounds and sill, a 

boxed wood cornice and overhanging eaves. A third addition, circa late 19th century, is located 

on the northwest elevation. This section, constructed of random-rubble stone, is one story in 

height and two bays wide. Two historic and three non-historic secondary buildings are associated 

with this property. 
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name) 

historic Ehrhardt-Rude House 

other 

2. Location 
street and number 8012 Windsor Mi l l Road not for publication 

city, town Baltimore vicinity 

county Baltimore County 

3. Owner of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners) 

name Helen M. Ehrhardt 

street and number 8012 Windsor Mi l l Rod telephone not available 

city, town Baltimore state M P zip code 21244-1300 

4. Location of Legal Description 
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Baltimore County Courthouse tax map and parcel: 87,46 

city, town Towson liber 14771 folio 605 

5. Primary Location of Additional Data 
— — • 

Contributing Resource in National Register District 
Contributing Resource in Local Historic District 
Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register 
Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register 
Recorded by HABS/HAER 
Historic Structure Report or Research Report 
Other 

6. Classification 

Category Ownership Current Function Resource Count 
district MI JL agriculture landscape Contributing Noncontributing 

I T hi liiHiiWci . commerce/trade recreation/culture 2 3 buildings 
-A Duiiaing^s; _x_ private — , , — . . . 
_ structure _ both „ defense _ religion sites 

X domestic social 1 structures 
site — — 

_ education transportation objects 
_ funerary work in progress 3_ 3̂  Total 
_ government unknown 

health care vacant/not in use Number of Contributing Resources 
_ industry other: previously listed in the Inventory 



7. Description Inventory No. BA-3006 

Condition 

excellent deteriorated 
good ruins 

JL fair altered 

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it 
exists today. 

Sited close to the road, this vernacular wood frame dwelling sits on a large sloping grassy lot with mature trees and shrubs 
throughout. The house faces southwest towards Windsor Mill Road. The salt box section on the rear of the house, appears to be 
the initial period of construction. This one-and-a-half-story section is topped a salt-box roof and features an exterior-end brick 
chimney clad with stucco. A shed-roof enclosed porch is located on the northwest elevation of this addition. The second period of 
construction is the single-pile section, which stands two stories high and measures three bays across. This section dates to the mid-
to late-19th century. Both sections rest on a solid random-rubble stone foundation and is clad with asbestos shingles. The two-
story section has one interior-end brick chimney above the side-gable asphalt-shingle roof. Features of the dwelling include thin 
square-edged wood surrounds and sill, a boxed wood cornice and overhanging eaves. A third addition, circa late 19th century, is 
located on the northwest elevation. This section, constructed of random-rubble stone, is one story in height and two bays wide. 
Two historic and three non-historic secondary buildings are associated with this property. 

EXTERIOR 

The facade of the dwelling features a central entrance flanked by two 6/6 wood sash windows. The entry contains a single-leaf 2-
light 2-panel wood door. The second story has two 2/2 wood sash windows. Covering the full-width of the first story is a half-
hipped replacement porch. The porch is supported with square wood posts and pilasters with lace-like brackets. A concrete 
foundation replaced the original porch deck. The southwest elevation of the shed-roof stone addition is two bays wide with one 6/6 
wood sash window and a recessed off-center entry. The entrance holds a single-leaf vertical-board door and the window is 
supported with a square-edged wood sill. 

The southeast elevation is pierced by one opening, a 6/6 wood sash window on the first story. A bulk-head entrance on this 
elevation provides access to the basement. The southeast elevation of the rear addition is one story high and two bays deep. A 6/6 
wood sash window and a single-leaf 2-light wood paneled door pierce this elevation. 

One 6/6 wood sash window on both the first and second story of the main block is visible on the northeast elevation. On the salt-
box addition is the exterior-end shouldered brick chimney. Flanking the chimney in the upper story are 2-light wood awning 
windows. One replacement 1/1 wood sash window pierces the northeast elevation of the enclosed porch. 

SECONDARY BUILDINGS 

Close to the house is a 1920s board-and-batten shed standing one story high and one bay wide. It rests on a solid random-rubble 
stone foundation and is capped with a front-gable roof clad with asphalt shingles. One 6-light awning window pierces the side 
elevation. The roof features overhanging eaves. Sited away from the house to the north are two outbuildings, a granary and a 
tractor shed. The wood frame 1930s granary, is one story high and one bay wide and is clad with vertical-board siding. It is 
capped with a front-gable roof covered with corrugated-sheet metal, and rests on brick piers. The center entry holds a vertical-
board wood door. The 1960s tractor shed stands one story high and measures five bays across. It is clad with vertical-board siding 
and has a post-in-ground foundation. Next, is a 1960s wood-frame chicken coop clad with horizontal-board siding resting on a 
cinderblock piers foundation. It is capped with a off-center gable roof covered with corrugated-sheet metal. A 1960s tobacco 
barn, sited to the northeast of the dwelling, is wood frame and clad with vertical-board siding. It is capped with a gambrel roof 
covered with standing-seam metal. 

I 



8. Significance Inventory No BA-3006 

Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below 

1600-1699 agriculture economics health/medicine performing arts 
1700-1799 archeology education industry philospohy 

_X 1800-1899 J L architecture engineering invention politics/government 
_XL 1900-1999 art entertainment/ landscape architecture religion 

2000- commerce recreation law science 
communications ethnic heritage literature social history 
community planning exploration/ maritime industry transportation 
conservation settlement military other: 

Specific dates 1835 ca. Architect/Builder unknown 

Construction dates 1835 ca. 

Evaluation for: 

National Register Maryland Register X not evaluated 

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of 
the history of the resource and its context. (For compliance reports, complete evaluation on a DOE Form - see manual.) 

SIGNIFICANCE STATEMENT 

Three families have resided at this location on Windsor Mill Road since its construction. This vernacular frame dwelling was built 
by Abraham Jessop circa 1830. The Hook family purchased the property in 1838 and members resided here for approximately fifty-
four years. The Ehrhardt family has owned this property for just under one hundred years, since 1874. Windsor Mill Road extends 
from the village of Powhattan to Court Road, just south of Randalstown. The Ehrhardt-Rude dwelling is one of the oldest 
remaining vernacular dwellings along this section of Windsor Mill Road. 

HISTORY 

The Ehrhardt-Rude house is located at 8012 Windsor Mill Road near the historic village of Rockdale in the Second District of 
Baltimore County. The Second District is located west of Baltimore City and borders Howard and Carroll Counties. It is bounded 
on the south by the First District, on the east by the Third District, and on the north by the Fourth District. This section of 
Baltimore County is known for its granite and chrome mining. According to the Hopkins Atlas, the Second District was one of the 
most flourishing and rapidly growing places in the County. In 1881, the population was 3760, up slightly from 3127 in 1870. 
North of Windsor Mill Road is the town of Rockdale. A small village in 1881, with a population of 200, Rockdale is located along 
Liberty turnpike, now called Liberty Road.(l) Liberty Road connects Frederick to downtown Baltimore City at Reisterstown 
Road. 

According to tax records of 1823, Abraham Jessop had $40 worth on his land. For $600, Joseph Hook bought 66 acres of land 
from Abraham Jessop in 1838. The land transaction included parts of three tracts of land, Timber Neck, Arey Hills, and Pleasant 
Springs to total sixty-six acres of land. The deed mentions buildings and other improvements to be included within the sale. This 
suggests that the vernacular dwelling at 8012 Windsor Mill Road was built between 1823 and 1838. 

Vernacular buildings tend to have little to no stylistic detailing and are typically constructed by local builders with locally available 
tools and materials. Vernacular architecture accounts for the majority of the built environment and reflects the traditions of society, 
rather than the whims of the architect.(2) Throughout Baltimore County, there are a number of vernacular frame houses from this 
period. Commonly, these dwellings are two stories in height, single-pile with side gable roofs. This continuity of form is a result of 
folk architecture and the reliance on constructing forms that had been built by the previous generation. 

Joseph Hook resided on Windsor Mill Road from 1838 until his death in 1874. He is noted on the Sidney Atlas of 1850 at this 
residence on the west side of Ben's Run.(3) In Hook's last will and testament, his children received his estate. The Hopkins Atlas 
of 1877 shows Mrs. J.A. Macken(4) on Windsor Road just south of Rockdale.(5) Daughter of Joseph Hook, Mrs. J.A. Machen, 
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was the wife of Joshua A. Machen. Joshua and Catherine Machen died in the early 1890s. In 1894, Charles Ehrhardt purchased the 
property from Catherine Machen's executors. A member of the Ehrhardt family continues to own this property. 

ENDNOTES 

1. J. Thomas Scharf, History of Baltimore City and County From the Earliest Period to the Present Day: Including Biographical 
Sketches of Their Representative Men (Philadelphia, PA: Louis H. Everts, 1881. Reprinted by Higginson Book Company, Salem, 
MA), pp. 830, 832. 
2.. Dell Upton and John Michael Vlach, editors, Common Places: Readings in American Vernacular Architecture, (Athens, GA: 
The University of Georgia Press, 1986), pp. xv-xvi. 
3. J.C. Sidney, Map of the City and County of Baltimore, Maryland, from Original Surveys (Baltimore, MD: James M. Stephens, 
1850). 
4. The deed books spell this name as Machen, whereas the 1877 map spells it Macken. 
5. Atlas of Baltimore County, Maryland (Philadelphia: G.M. Hopkins, 1877). 

CHAIN OF TITLE 

February 7, 183 8 Abraham Jessop to Joseph Hook 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber TK 277 Folio 272 

1874 Joseph Hook to William A. Hook and Johnsey Hook, executors v 

Will Records of Baltimore County 
LiberBWA4 Folio 319 

1874 Catherine M. Machen, daughter of Joseph Hook, 
and Joshua A. Machen, husband, received property circa 1874 
Catherine M. Machen left property to Joshua A. Machen 

1891 Joshua A. Machen to Catherine Machen 
Will Records of Baltimore County 
LiberBWA9 Folio 382 

1892 Catherine M. Machen to John H. Machen and Howard E. Machen, executors 
Will Records of Baltimore County 
Liber BWA 10 Folio 22 

November 21,1894 John H. Machen and'Howard E. Machen, executors to Catherine Machen, to Charles Ehrhardt 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber LBM 207 Folio 480 

December 9, 1899 Charles and Augusta Ehrhardt to William and Paul Ehrhardt (sons) 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber NBM 243 Folio 132 
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August 26, 1928 William Ehrhardt to Mary Ehrhardt 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber WJP 25 Folio 256 

November 3, 1953 Lillian A. Kelly, Trustee to Mary Ehrhardt to Carl W. and Minnie Ehrhardt 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber GLB 2384 Folio 503 

February 18, 1999 Carl W. Ehrhardt to Helen M. Ehrhardt 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber 13533 Folio 638 

October 23,2000 Helen M. Ehrhardt to Helen M. Ehrhardt 
Land Records of Baltimore County 
Liber 14771 Folio 605 



9. Major Bibliographical References Inventory No BA-3006 

See continuation sheet. 

10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of surveyed property 53.69 acres 

Acreage of historical setting 60 acres 

Quadrangle name Ellicott City Quadrangle scale 1:24,000 

Verbal boundary description and justification 

The Ehrhardt-Rude house is located at 8012 Windsor Mill Road near Hebbville in the Second District of Baltimore County. It 
has historically been associated with tax map 87 parcel 46 since its construction. 

11. Form Prepared By 
name/title K. Baynard, Architectural Historian 

organization E.H.T. Traceries date 9/11/02 

street and number 1121 Fifth Street, NW telephone 202/393-1199 

city or town Washington state DC zip code 20001 

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland 
Legislature to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974 
supplement. 

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only 
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights. 

return to: Maryland Historical Trust 
DHCD/DHCP 
100 Community Place 
Crownsville MD 21032 
410-514-7600 
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Atlas of Baltimore County, Maryland. Philadelphia, PA: G. M. Hopkins, 1877. 
Baltimore County Historic Inventory. 
Brooks, Neal A. and Eric G. Rockel. A History of Baltimore County. Towson, MD: Friends of the Towson Library, Inc., 1979. 
Map of Baltimore County. Philadelphia, PA: G. W. Bromley, 1915. 
Scharf, J. Thomas. History of Baltimore City and County From the Earliest Period to the Present Day: Including Biographical 
Sketches of Their Representative Men. Philadelphia, PA: Louis H. Everts, 1881. Reprinted by Higginson Book Company, 
Salem, MA. 
Sidney, J. C. Map of the City and County of Baltimore, Maryland, from Original Surveys. Baltimore, MD: James M. Stephens, 
1850. 
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